IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

No. 16-0775

---

OLIVER FENCEROY, Plaintiff-Appellee

v.

GELITA USA, INC., TOM HAIRE, AND JEFF TOLSMA, Defendants-  
Appellants

and

BOB KERSBERGEN and JEREMY KNEIP, Defendants.

**On Appeal from the District Court of Woodbury County, Iowa**

**Honorable Jeffrey A. Neary**

---

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL  
ARGUMENT

---

Prepared and Submitted by:

Aaron A. Clark (IA Bar # AT0012098)  
McGrath North PC LLO  
Suite 3700 First National Tower  
1601 Dodge Street  
Omaha, Nebraska 68102  
(402) 341-3070 (Phone)  
(402) 341-0216 (Fax)  
aclark@mcgrathnorth.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

**

**I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**A. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT PRIVILEGED TESTIMONY AND DOCUMENTS WERE DISCOVERABLE BECAUSE THE PRIVILEGE HAD BEEN WAIVED BY ASSERTING THE *FARAGHER-ELLERTH* DEFENSE?**

*City of Petaluma v. Superior Court*, 248 Ca. App. 4th 1023, 1034-35 (Cal. Ct. App. 2016).

*EEOC v. Koch Meat Co., Inc.*, No. 91C4715, 1992 WL 332310 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 5, 1992).

*EEOC v. Rose Casual Dining, L.P.*, No. 02-7485, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1983, at \*7-8 (E.D. Pa. 2003).

*Faragher-Ellerth v. City of Boca Raton*, 524 U.S. 775, 807-08 (1998).

*Farmland Foods, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Commission*, 672 N.W.2d 733, 744, n.2 (Iowa 2003).

*Geller v. North Shore Long Island Jewish Health Sys.*, No. CV-10-170, 2011 WL 5507572, at \*4 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 9, 2011).

*Harding v. Dana Transport, Inc.*, 914 F. Supp. 1084 (D. N.J. 1996).

*Lauderdale v. Texas Dept. of Criminal Justice Institutional Div.*, 512 F.3d 157, 165 (5th Cir. 2007).

*Lopez v. Aramark Uniform and Career Apparel, Inc.*, 426 F. Supp. 2d 914, 949-50 (N.D. Iowa 2006).

*McCurdy v. Arkansas State Police*, 375 F.3d 762, 772 (8th Cir. 2004).

*Moore v. DAN Holdings, Inc.*, No. 1:12cv503, 2013 WL 1833557, \*3-4 (M.D. N.C. 2013).

*Robinson v. County of San Joaquin*, No. 2:12-cv-2783, 2014 WL 5473049, at \*2 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 28, 2014).

*Scurto v. Commonwealth Edison Co.*, No. 97 C 7508, 1999 WL 35311, at \*4 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 11, 1999).

*State Dept. of Health Servs. v. Superior Court*, 31 Cal. App. 4th 1026, 1044 (Cal. Ct. App. 2003).

*Treat v. Tom Kelley Buick Pontiac GMC, Inc.*, No. 1:08-cv-173, 2009 WL 1543651, at \*6 (N.D. Ind. Jun. 2, 2009).

*Vance v. Ball State University*, 133 S. Ct. 2434, 2439 (2013).

*Wellpoint Health Networks, Inc. v. Superior Court*, 59 Cal. App. 4th 110, 125-29 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997).

**B. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR BY DENYING THE PROTECTIVE ORDER AND FAILING TO CONSIDER WHETHER OTHER MEANS EXISTED TO OBTAIN THE INFORMATION AND WHETHER IT WAS CRUCIAL TO THE PREPARATION OF THE CASE?**

*Harding v. Dana Transport, Inc.*, 914 F. Supp. 1084 (D. N.J. 1996).

*Hickman v. Taylor*, 329 U.S. 495, 513 (1947).

*Scurto v. Commonwealth Edison Co.*, No. 97 C 7508, 1999 WL 35311, at \*4 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 11, 1999).

*Shelton v. American Motors Corp.*, 805 F.2d 1323, 1327 (1986).

**II. ROUTING STATEMENT**

Defendants-Appellants Gelita USA, Inc., Tom Haire and Jeff Tolsma (collectively “Defendants”) submit that this case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it presents substantial issues of first impression and of public importance under Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2) concerning the

preservation of the attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine when legal counsel is hired to investigate and defend a discrimination charge after an employee-claimant terminates his or her employment.<sup>1</sup>

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case is before the Court on interlocutory appeal. On April 18, 2016, the District Court overruled Defendants' Motion for a Protective Order arising from Plaintiff's request to take the deposition of defense counsel and obtain testimony and information protected by the attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine. The District Court concluded that Defendant Gelita USA, Inc. waived the attorney-client privilege and the protection of the work product doctrine by asserting the *Faragher-Ellerth* affirmative defense in response to Plaintiff's claims of racial harassment. (App. pgs. 230-36). Defendants seek to overturn the District Court's April 18, 2016 ruling and protect attorney-client communications and work product relating to the defense of Plaintiff's charge of discrimination. Defendants timely filed their Notice of Appeal and Application for Interlocutory Appeal on May 6, 2016. (App. p. 237). On July 1, 2016, the

---

<sup>1</sup>/ When granting Defendants' Motion to Stay Proceedings Pending Appeal, the District Court noted that this case "involved issues of first impression in this State and are critical to the case for both parties." (App. p. 243).

Iowa Supreme Court granted Defendants' Application for Interlocutory Appeal to review this matter. (App. p. 279-81).

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

##### **A. Claims of Discrimination and Harassment.**

Plaintiff-Appellee, Oliver Fenceroy ("Fenceroy") was employed by Gelita USA, Inc. ("Gelita" or the "Company") for approximately 37 years. (App. p. 2). He voluntarily retired from his employment at the end of March 2013. (App. p. 22). After leaving his employment, he filed a Charge of Discrimination with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission ("ICRC") in April 2013. (*Id.*). In his charge, Fenceroy alleged that he was subjected to racial jokes, comments and other conduct while working at Gelita. (*Id.*). It is uncontroverted that during his employment, Fenceroy never complained about racial jokes or comments in the workplace to Human Resources or management and did not follow the complaint procedures set forth in the Company's discrimination policy to report these matters. (App. pgs. 22, 42, 138). The alleged racial comments and jokes were not disclosed by Fenceroy until after he retired and filed his charge of discrimination. (App. p. 138).



**B. Counsel's Defense of Discrimination Charge.**

After Fenceroy filed his charge with the ICRC, Gelita hired defense counsel Ruth Horvatich to defend the Company. (App. p. 22). At all times during the proceedings before the ICRC and throughout the course of this litigation, Horvatich has always served in the capacity of defense counsel and her services have been devoted to providing a defense to Gelita concerning Fenceroy's claims of discrimination and harassment. (App. p. 23). While defending Gelita against Fenceroy's allegations, Horvatich interviewed several employees and had witnesses sign written statements. (*Id.*). Employee witnesses were allowed to keep a copy of their statements and the written statements were produced to Fenceroy during discovery. (*Id.*). Horvatich prepared and filed Gelita's position statement with the ICRC responding to Fenceroy's allegations. (*Id.*).

After completing interviews, it was determined that inappropriate racial comments and jokes did occur in the workplace. (*Id.*). As a result, the Company terminated one employee and disciplined other employees who failed to report incidents of inappropriate behavior. (App. pgs. 23, 43). Defense counsel did not participate in disciplinary decisions that were made by the Company. (App. p. 23).

Jeff Tolsma, Gelita's Vice President, Business Support, was present during all of the interviews Horvatich conducted with employees, and it was Tolsma and other Company representatives that made decisions pertaining to disciplinary action rendered by the Company. (*Id.*). On February 23, 2016, Fenceroy's counsel deposed Tolsma regarding the steps taken by the Company in response to Fenceroy's charge including the disciplinary action imposed by the Company. (App. p. 24).

After administrative proceedings with the ICRC were concluded, Plaintiff filed a Petition in the Iowa District Court for Woodbury County asserting claims for race discrimination under the Iowa Civil Rights Act ("ICRA"). (App. pgs. 1-6). In their Answer to the Petition, Defendants asserted several affirmative defenses including: (1) "Plaintiff unreasonably failed to take advantage of any preventive or corrective opportunities provided by Defendant Gelita USA, Inc. or to otherwise avoid harm;" and (2) "Defendants exercised reasonable care to prevent and promptly correct any harassing behavior to its knowledge." (App. p. 10). The first defense is based on Fenceroy's failure to report any racial jokes and comments during his employment and his failure to take advantage of preventive and corrective opportunities provided by Gelita. The second defense is based on Gelita's assertion that it exercised reasonable care to prevent and promptly

correct any harassment issues in the workplace that were brought to its attention.<sup>2</sup>

**C. Notice to Take Defense Counsel's Deposition and Request for Records.**

On March 23, 2016, in connection with this action, Fenceroy's counsel issued an Amended Notice to take the deposition of defense counsel Ruth Horvatich. (App. pgs. 26-27). The Amended Notice included a request to produce "notes from the investigation that resulted in Gelita's Position Statement to the Iowa Civil Rights Commission" and "notes from interviews" with employees of Gelita. (*Id.*)<sup>3</sup>

On March 23 and March 30, 2016, counsel for the parties conferred regarding the deposition of Ruth Horvatich. (App. pgs. 3-4). During those conferences, it was fully explained that Horvatich was hired by Gelita after Fenceroy retired and filed his charge of discrimination. (*Id.*). Furthermore,

---

<sup>2</sup>/ In 2011, during Fenceroy's employment, Fenceroy complained about a rope that he thought looked like a noose. (App. pgs. 42-43). The rope was attached to a large scale and was tied in a loop so employees using the scale could easily pull the rope to add weight to the scale during production. (App. p. 42). Gelita maintains that it investigated Fenceroy's complaint in 2011 and the matter was resolved. (App. p. 43). This is the only complaint ever reported by Fenceroy during his employment.

<sup>3</sup>/ Ruth Horvatich did not take any notes during the employee interviews but rather, typed up witness statements which were printed and signed by each employee at the end of their interviews. (App. p. 24). As stated above, these statements have been produced to Fenceroy during discovery. (*Id.*).

Fenceroy's counsel was advised that any communications between defense counsel and Company management would be privileged and any records created by Horvatich concerning her defense of the charge would be protected by the work-product doctrine. (*Id.*) Fenceroy's counsel was asked to identify the information sought from Ruth Horvatich. (*Id.*) In response to this request, Fenceroy's counsel could not identify any non-privileged information that defense counsel could provide that was not available through the testimony of Jeff Tolsma, whose deposition had been taken on February 23, 2016. (*Id.*)

During the course of these proceedings, Fenceroy's counsel asserted that privileged communications and work product are relevant to show that defense counsel was hired by Gelita to manufacture a "sham investigation" that was "carried out" by defense counsel "in reckless disregard of Plaintiff's rights, entitling him to punitive damages." (App. pgs. 188, 191). Defendants maintain that such allegations are completely unfounded and that defense counsel's investigation and defense of the discrimination charge after Fenceroy left his employment is not "at issue" in this action and is protected by the attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine.

#### **D. Motion for Protective Order.**

On April 1, 2016, Defendants filed a Motion for Protective Order to preclude the deposition of defense counsel Ruth Horvatic and to protect attorney-client communications and work product. (App. pgs. 19-36). On April 18, 2016, the District Court entered an Order overruling Defendants' Motion for Protective Order and held that Gelita "waived both its attorney-client privilege and protection of the work product doctrine as to Attorney Horvatic's investigation, when Gelita put forth the *Faragher-Ellerth* affirmative defense." (App. pgs. 230-36). In its Order, the District Court did not consider whether other means existed to obtain the information requested or whether the information sought was crucial to the preparation of Fenceroy's case. (*Id.*).

### **V. ARGUMENT**

#### **A. The Issue was Preserved for Appellate Review.**

Defendants timely filed their Notice of Appeal and Application for Interlocutory Appeal on May 6, 2016. (App. pgs. 237-38). The Application for Interlocutory Appeal was granted by the Iowa Supreme Court on July 1, 2016. (App. pgs. 279-81).

## **B. Standard and Scope of Review.**

The appellate courts will review the district court's rulings on discovery matters under an abuse of discretion standard. *Mediacomm. Iowa, LLC v. Incorporated City of Spencer*, 682 N.W.2d 62, 66 (Iowa 2004). "A ruling based on an erroneous interpretation of a discovery rule can constitute an abuse of discretion." *Id.* (citing *Shook v. City of Davenport*, 497 N.W.2d 883, 885 (Iowa 1993)).

If the District Court's ruling on waiver is not overturned, defense counsel will be required to divulge privileged information and work product relating to the defense of Plaintiff's claims. Requiring defense counsel to appear as a witness and divulge privileged information and work product will likely lead to the disqualification of defense counsel in these proceedings. Rulings relating to the disqualification of counsel are subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. *Bottoms v. Stapleton*, 706 N.W.2d 411, 415 (Iowa 2005). A court will abuse its discretion when its ruling "is based on clearly untenable grounds, such as reliance upon an improper legal standard or error in the application of the law." *Id.*

**C. The District Court Erred in Concluding that the Privilege had been Waived by Asserting the *Faragher-Ellerth* Defense.**

In its ruling on Defendants' Motion for Protective Order, the District Court did not challenge Defendants' assertion of the attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine. Rather, the district court found that the privilege had been waived because Defendants asserted the *Faragher-Ellerth* defense in response to Plaintiff's harassment claims.

It is undisputed that defense counsel was hired by Gelita after Fenceroy retired from the Company and filed a charge of discrimination. Any communications between defense counsel and Gelita as well as any documents created by counsel to defend the charge of discrimination were clearly undertaken in anticipation of litigation.

“With respect to EEOC claims in particular, it is fairly well established that where counsel is retained after discrimination charges are filed with the EEOC, in order to investigate those charges, counsel (or counsel's delegate in the investigation) is not performing a business function but rather preparing and advising his client in anticipation of future litigation.” *Robinson v. County of San Joaquin*, No. 2:12-cv-2783, 2014 WL 5473049, at \*2 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 28, 2014). “Any internal investigation done by counsel or other agents of the corporation in anticipation of litigation will

generally be covered by work-product.” *Id.*; see also *Treat v. Tom Kelley Buick Pontiac GMC, Inc.*, No. 1:08-cv-173, 2009 WL 1543651, at \*6 (N.D. Ind. Jun. 2, 2009) (outside counsel’s investigation clearly in anticipation of litigation where counsel was retained for purposes of responding to EEOC charges of discrimination); *City of Petaluma v. Superior Court*, 248 Cal. App. 4th 1023, 1034-35 (Cal. Ct. App. 2016) (finding that legal counsel’s factual investigation and work developing a response to EEOC claim was privileged); *EEOC v. Koch Meat Co., Inc.*, No. 91C4715, 1992 WL 332310 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 5, 1992) (where counsel is retained after discrimination charges are filed with EEOC, counsel was not performing a business function but was investigating charges and advising client in anticipation of future litigation); *Geller v. North Shore Long Island Jewish Health Sys.*, No. CV-10-170, 2011 WL 5507572, at \*4 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 9, 2011) (finding that investigation documents including notes from employee interviews are privileged work-product in anticipation of litigation); *Moore v. DAN Holdings, Inc.*, No. 1:12cv503, 2013 WL 1833557, \*3-4 (M.D. N.C. 2013) (finding that counsel’s investigation was not relevant to any defense to discrimination and retaliation claims); *EEOC v. Rose Casual Dining, L.P.*, No. 02-7485, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1983, at \*7-8 (E.D. Pa. 2003) (holding that portion of counsel’s investigation conducted after termination and after



charge was filed was not placed in issue because it was in preparation of litigation rather than to show the adequacy of any remedial action).

Thus, when counsel is retained after discrimination charges are filed, counsel's investigation is privileged as it involves preparing and advising the client in anticipation of future litigation. *See Treat*, 2009 WL 1543651, at \*7; *Robinson*, 2014 WL 5473049, at \*3; *see also Scurto v. Commonwealth Edison Co.*, No. 97 C 7508, 1999 WL 35311, at \*4 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 11, 1999) (finding outside counsel acted as a lawyer when he prepared documents only after plaintiff instituted administrative proceedings).

In this case, the District Court erred in finding that the privilege had been waived based on the assertion of the *Faragher-Ellerth* defense. Similar to claims under Title VII, the *Faragher-Ellerth* affirmative defense is available in harassment cases under the ICRA. *Farmland Foods, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Commission*, 672 N.W.2d 733, 744, n.2 (Iowa 2003); *Lopez v. Aramark Uniform and Career Apparel, Inc.*, 426 F. Supp. 2d 914, 949-50 (N.D. Iowa 2006) (collecting cases and stating that Title VII and ICRA claims are analyzed the same and the Iowa Supreme Court has adopted the *Faragher-Ellerth* defense). Under the *Faragher-Ellerth* affirmative defense, an employer may defend a harassment claim by proving: (1) that it exercised reasonable care to prevent and correct any

harassing behavior; and (2) that the employee unreasonably failed to take advantage of the preventative or corrective opportunities that the employer provided. *Vance v. Ball State University*, 133 S. Ct. 2434, 2439 (2013). In this case, the *Faragher-Ellerth* defense is based on Fenceroy's unreasonable failure to take advantage of preventative and corrective opportunities available during his employment. Defendants are not relying upon any investigation conducted by defense counsel after Fenceroy filed his discrimination charge. Those complaints were not made by Fenceroy during his employment and therefore, the adequacy of that investigation and remedial action undertaken by the Company are not "at issue" nor are they part of Gelita's *Faragher-Ellerth* affirmative defense. Accordingly, Defendants have not waived the attorney-client privilege.

The waiver issue was squarely addressed by a federal district court in *Treat*, 2009 WL 1543651, at \*6-7. In that case, plaintiffs were pursuing claims for harassment and discrimination and were seeking documents relating to counsel's investigation, notes from witness interviews and drafts of position statements and related communications. *Id.* at \*1. The court rejected plaintiffs' attempt to obtain this information finding that counsel clearly was acting as a lawyer and the records were prepared in anticipation

of litigation and “only after” administrative proceedings with the EEOC were filed. *Id.* at \*6-7.

The court then addressed plaintiffs’ argument that the privilege had been waived by the employer who asserted a *Faragher-Ellerth* affirmative defense in its answer. *Id.* at \*12. As an affirmative defense, the employer asserted that it “exercised reasonable care to prevent and correct promptly any discriminatory behavior, and plaintiffs unreasonably failed to take advantage of any preventative or corrective opportunities provided by [the employer] or to avoid harm otherwise.” *Id.* The court found no waiver and stated that the affirmative defense was based on plaintiffs not taking advantage of the company’s policies and procedures for reporting harassment and discrimination. *Id.* at \*13. The court stated:

*In other words, because the Plaintiffs allegedly did not report their complaints during their employment, there is no internal investigation of any complaints to rely upon; the only investigation (conducted by outside counsel) was for the purpose of preparing for litigation, once the EEOC charges were filed.*

*Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, the court noted that the company was not relying upon the adequacy of any investigation conducted after the charge was filed but rather, the defense related to whether plaintiffs were aware of the company’s policies and failed to comply with those policies by failing to complain of the alleged harassment during their employment. *Id.*

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