IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 16-0775
WOODBURY COUNTY NO. LACV160570

OLIVER FENCEROY, Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

GELITA USA, INC., TOM HAIRE, AND JEFF TOLSMA,
Defendants-Appellants

And

BOB KERSBERGEN and JEREMY KNEIP, Defendants.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA
THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. NEARY

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Stanley E. Munger (ISBA#AT0005583)
MUNGER, REINSCHMIDT & DENNE, LLP
600 Fourth Street, Suite 303
PO Box 912
Sioux City, IA 51102
(712) 233-3635
(712) 233-3649 (fax)
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

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

Consequently, the plaintiffs sought disclosure of the firm's entire file concerning any and all services performed for Glenmede in connection with the buy-back transaction, including documents underlying the Opinion Letter. Glenmede and its firm objected to the production on the basis of the attorney-client privilege. The Third Circuit affirmed the district court's ruling that “Pepper Hamilton's involvement in structuring and closing the transaction required the production of back-up documents to the Opinion Letter *to permit the Thompson family to analyze the reasonableness of Glenmede's reliance on the advice of counsel.*” *Id.* at 480. The court reasoned that the defendants should not be permitted to define the scope of their own waiver of the attorney-client privilege stating:

There is an inherent risk in permitting the party asserting a defense of its reliance on advice of counsel to define the parameters of the waiver of the attorney-client privilege as to that advice. That party should not be permitted to define selectively the subject matter of the advice of counsel on which it relied in order to limit the scope of the waiver of the attorney-client privilege and therefore the scope of discovery. To do so would undermine the very purpose behind the exception to the attorney-client privilege at issue here—fairness.

The party opposing the defense of reliance on advice of counsel must be able to test what information had been conveyed by the client to counsel and vice-versa regarding that advice—whether counsel was provided with all material facts in rendering their advice, whether counsel gave a well-informed opinion and whether that advice was heeded by the client.

Id. at 486; *see also Bierman v. Marcus*, 122 F.Supp. 250, 252 (D.N.J.1954) (in deciding whether the attorney-client privilege is waived, “the most important consideration is fairness. He (the client) cannot be allowed after disclosing as much as he pleases, to withhold the remainder”). The court found that Glenmede had placed in issue advice related to the structure of the stock repurchase transaction. Accordingly, the court found that Glenmede Trust had waived the attorney-client privilege as to all

communications, both written and oral, to or from counsel as to the entire transaction. *Glenmede*, 56 F.3d at 487.

Two other cases further illuminate the applicability of waiver in the present suit. The District Court for the Northern District of California came to a similar conclusion in *Handgards, Inc. v. Johnson & Johnson*, 413 F.Supp. 926, 929 (N.D.Cal.1976). In that patent action, the court found that “[b]y putting their lawyers on the witness stand in *1096 order to demonstrate that the prior lawsuits were pursued on the basis of competent legal advice and were, therefore, brought in good faith, defendants will waive the attorney-client privilege as to communications relating to the issue of the good-faith prosecution of the patent action.” *Id.* The court affirmed its earlier order to disclose all relevant records, opinion letters, interviews of witnesses, internal files, memoranda and notes which pertained to the validity of the attorney's assertions at issue. *Id.* at 928. In another analogous situation, the District Court for the Southern District of New York concluded that the defendant had brought privileged information into issue in an action for breach of contract. *Garfinkle v. Arcata National Corp.*, 64 F.R.D. 688 (S.D.N.Y.1974). The defendant asserted that it did not fulfill one element of the contract for sale of stock pursuant to the advice of its counsel—counsel advised the defendant that it need not register the stock although the contract provided that the defendant would. *Id.* at 689. The court found that although the documents relating to the attorney's advice were clearly protected by the attorney-client privilege, “that privilege may be waived if the privileged communication is injected as an issue in the case by the party which enjoys its protection.” *Id.* The defendant was willing to provide the Opinion Letter to the plaintiff but no underlying documents or information. However, the court found that the plaintiff was entitled to know how the opinion letter came into being: the defendant must not be permitted to “use the letter as both a sword and a shield.” *Id.* Consequently, the court ordered that all documents relating to the advice be disclosed.

Harding v. Dana Transp., Inc., 914 F. Supp. 1084, 1094-96 (D.N.J. 1996)

The *Harding* Court went on to find an implied waiver of Defendant's work-product privilege using a similar analysis. *Id.* at 1099.

Several other courts have held that when an attorney's investigation is used as a defense to liability, discovery is appropriate. *See Treat v. Tom Kelley Buick Pontiac GMC, Inc.*, 2009 WL 1543651, at *12 (N.D. Ind. June 2, 2009):

Indeed, a defendant may also waive the attorney-client privilege if it asserts its investigation as part of its defense. *Harding*, 914 F.Supp. at 1093. Where counsel's investigation itself provides a defense to liability, "the defendants have fused the roles of internal investigator and legal advisor. Consequently, [the defendants] cannot now argue that its own process is shielded from discovery." *Id.* When this occurs, fundamental fairness requires that "the plaintiffs ... be permitted to probe the substance of [the defendant's] alleged investigation to determine its sufficiency." *Id.* "Without having evidence of the actual content of the investigation, neither the plaintiffs nor the fact-finder at trial can discern its adequacy." *Id.*; *see also Chivers v. Cent. Noble Cmty. Schs.*, 1:04-CV-00394, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16057 (N.D.Ind. Aug. 4, 2005) (finding that the school's former superintendent waived the attorney-client privilege by placing the attorney's advice at issue).

Id. *See also Volpe v. US Airways, Inc.*, 184 F.R.D. 672 (M.D. Fla. 1998)

(employer that relies on thoroughness of internal investigation as defense against sexual harassment charge must disclose to plaintiff notes taken during such investigation); *Pray v. New York City Ballet Co.*, 1997 WL 266980 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (employers litigation defense counsel, who also

served as attorney conducting internal investigation of discrimination complaints, subject to deposition; by asserting thoroughness of investigation as defense in sexual harassment litigation employer waived attorney-client privilege); *Wellpoint Health Networks, Inc. v. Superior Court*, 59 Cal.App.4th 110, 68 Cal.Rptr.2d 844 (2d Dist. 1997) (investigation documents normally covered by attorney-client privilege or work-product doctrine discoverable because defendant waived protections in raising adequacy of investigation as defense to discrimination claim); *Musa-Muaremi v. Florists' Transworld Delivery, Inc.*, 270 F.R.D. 312, 317–19 (N.D. Ill. 2010)(noting that it “would be unfair to allow an employer to hide its investigations and remedial efforts in the case up to the point of trial when it intends to use related evidence of its remedial efforts to evade liability”, collecting various cases in support of that finding); *E.E.O.C. v. Outback Steakhouse of FL, Inc.*, 251 F.R.D. 603, 611 (D. Colo. 2008)(collecting several cases where the waiver of privilege is found under similar circumstances).

Because Defendants have unqualifiedly asserted the *Faragher-Ellerth* defense in their Answer as an Affirmative Defense, and because they offer the results of Attorney Horvatic’s investigation in support of their defense, Plaintiff must, in fairness, be able to engage in discovery to challenge that

defense in order to prevail. Plaintiff must have a fair opportunity to prove that Gelita did not exercise reasonable care in its investigation and that the resulting alleged disciplinary action was not reasonable. Plaintiff must have a fair opportunity to show that he did not unreasonably fail to take advantage of Gelita's reporting procedures. Plaintiff's position is that it was fruitless to complain of discrimination at Gelita. Since the Defendants have submitted evidence regarding Attorney Horvatic's investigation in support of their defense, Plaintiff must have the opportunity to discover what Ms. Horvatic knew and when she knew it, what she did, what she recommended be done and why. Discovery is needed so that Mr. Fenceroy can explore whether counsel's investigation was inadequate and biased for her client, Gelita, and against Plaintiff. Proof that it was inadequate and biased will buttress Plaintiff's position that it was fruitless to complain of discrimination at Gelita and therefore he acted reasonably.

Accordingly, because Defendants have waived the asserted privileges due to their affirmative defenses, and the evidence they offered in support thereof, their appeal should be denied.

C. DEFENDANTS' WAIVER DUE TO THEIR TESTIMONY REGARDING THE INVESTIGATION.

As noted above, several defense witnesses testified during their depositions, as to their interactions with Attorney Horvatic during her

investigation. (App. 220-228). Moreover, Tolsma submitted an affidavit in support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment which specifically dealt with the investigation which involved Attorney Horvatic. (App. 39-44). On appeal, the Court should find that these witnesses testimony which Defendants did not object to, waives the privileges asserted.

The Iowa Supreme Court has noted:

On cross-appeal, defendants contend the district court erred when it refused to allow defendants to examine plaintiffs' attorney concerning any advice he may have given to plaintiffs regarding the effect of the statute of limitations on their claim. Defendants assert that some of the information they seek is not privileged, and, in the alternative, if it is privileged, plaintiffs waived the right to object when they disclosed certain information in the affidavits. Defendants also contend plaintiffs waived their privilege during their depositions wherein counsel objected to certain questions on the basis of the attorney-client privilege but did not direct his clients not to answer. During the depositions, these questions were answered by plaintiffs.

Thus, the issue is whether plaintiffs may disclose a privileged attorney communication about a matter that is relevant and material to issues in the case, and then invoke a privilege to prevent disclosure of other communications by the attorney about the same matter. We consider each instance of alleged disclosure. Because of our conclusion as to the first disclosure which occurred in plaintiffs' affidavits, however, we need not decide whether the privilege was waived in the depositions.

Iowa Code section 622.10 governs the attorney-client privilege. It provides in part:

A practicing attorney ... who obtains information by reason of the person's employment ... shall not be allowed, in giving testimony, to disclose any confidential communication properly

entrusted to the person in the person's professional capacity, and necessary and proper to enable the person to discharge the functions of the person's office according to the usual course of practice or discipline.

Because it impedes the full and free discovery of the truth, the attorney-client privilege is strictly construed. *See Chidester v. Needles*, 353 N.W.2d 849, 852 (Iowa 1984).

Consequently, we have held that voluntary disclosure of the content of a privileged communication constitutes waiver as to all other communications on the same subject. *See* Iowa Code § 622.10 (privilege does not apply when person, in whose favor prohibition is made, waives the right); *State v. Cole*, 295 N.W.2d 29, 35 (Iowa 1980) (recognizing theory of waiver in physician-patient relationship); *Kantaris v. Kantaris*, 169 N.W.2d 824, 830 (Iowa 1969) (“A client waives objection to an attorney's testimony when the client testifies to the communications.”).

Professor Wigmore explains:

[W]hen [the privilege holder's] conduct touches a certain point of disclosure, fairness requires that his privilege shall cease whether he intended that result or not. He cannot be allowed, after disclosing as much as he pleases, to withhold the remainder. He may elect to withhold or to disclose, but after a certain point his election must remain final.

J. Wigmore, *Evidence* § 2327 at 636 (McNaughton rev. 1961). *Miller v. Cont'l Ins. Co.*, 392 N.W.2d 500, 504–05 (Iowa 1986). The Court in *Miller* proceeded to find a partial waiver of the privilege, and remanded with directions that the attorney could be deposed. *Id.* at 505.

Because the Defendants testified regarding their interactions with Attorney Horvatich, the Court should find that Defendants waived any attorney-client privilege that may otherwise have attained in the pre-litigation investigation. The deposition transcripts cited above show Defendants asserted the privilege to some questions, but not all. Defendants allowed testimony regarding aspects of Attorney Horvatich's role in the investigation, including what she said to those she was representing, and the fact that she was asking them to sign documents that she created. Accordingly, discovery should be allowed to go forward on issues where Defendants waived their privilege.

D. DEFENDANTS' WAIVER DUE TO THE PRESENCE OF THIRD PARTIES.

The deposition excerpts cited above also prove that Attorney Horvatich's investigation was not just a confidential internal investigation; it involved a third party union representative, John Hoswald, who was representing the interests of its union members. By conducting its investigation in the presence of a third party who was not Gelita and not representing Gelita but was actually an adversary to Gelita's interests, Gelita waived and is estopped from claiming attorney-client and work product privileges apply to communications with them.

Ms. Horvatic's thought processes and communications were revealed to the third party by her actions, questions and deeds at the time of her investigation on behalf of Gelita. To the extent there was a privilege, Gelita waived it by the presence of the union. *See, e.g. State v. Flaucher*, 223 N.W.2d 239, 241 (Iowa 1974)(generally, information given in the presence of third parties not within the scope of the privilege destroys the confidential nature of the disclosures). The following discussion by the Iowa Supreme Court is also *apropos*:

We also note commentators' criticisms of extending the attorney-client privilege to communications to persons outside those specified in the privilege statute. Saltzburg, *Communications Falling Within the Attorney-Client Privilege*, 66 Iowa L.Rev. 811, 816 (1981) ("Third party communications are unprivileged because the attorney-client privilege is not established to give the client an edge over others in litigation. It is not a strategic tool designed to enable a litigant or potential litigant to gain an advantage by keeping evidence to herself rather than sharing it with others."); *see also* Friedenthal, *Discovery and Use of an Adverse Party's Expert Information*, 14 Stan.L.Rev. 455, 463-64 (1962).

State v. Craney, 347 N.W.2d 668, 677-78 (Iowa 1984).

Accordingly, the Court should find that the asserted privileges have been waived due to the presence of a third party.

E. THE *SHELTON* TEST FROM THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT IS NOT PERTINENT TO THIS APPEAL.

Defendants argue that the trial court erred in deciding whether or not the deposition should proceed by failing to apply the test in *Shelton v. Am. Motors, Inc.*, 805 F.2d 1323 (8th Cir. 1986). First of all, while the trial court utilized federal law for guidance, it was under no obligation to adopt this specific test, which is not found in Iowa law. The test appears to be contradictory to Iowa law - as held in *Miller v. Cont'l Ins. Co.*, 392 N.W.2d 500, 504-05 (Iowa 1986), attorneys can and should be deposed when they are fact witnesses.

In any event, *Shelton* is not applicable. The attorney in that case was not a fact witness whose testimony was not related to a specific defense – the opposing attorneys in that case were seeking to depose an in-house attorney who had compiled documents in anticipation of litigation. In the present case, Ms. Horvatic is outside counsel and a fact witness directly related to the investigation which Defendants rely upon to prove the *Faragher-Ellerth* defense.

Finally, assuming *arguendo* that the *Shelton* test should be used, Plaintiff has met that standard. No other means are available to obtain her testimony, the information is relevant and any privileges have been waived, and the information is crucial to the case. Defendants claim Tolsma's

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